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Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
[Roll was called.  Committee rules and protocol were explained.]  I will open the hearing for 
Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to housing authorities. 

(BDR 31-616) 
 
Senator David R. Parks, Senate District No. 7: 
Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint) provides for the Local Government Budget and Finance Act to 
apply to all housing authorities created by or pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 
Chapter 315.  The bill revises requirements for certain commissioners of a regional housing 
authority and counties whose population is 700,000 or more.  It requires that one of the 
persons appointed by each governing body of the regional housing authority be an elected 
member of the governing body making the appointments.  It limits the service of 
commissioners to no more than two terms and makes relative education a factor when 
considering a person for an appointment. 
 
There are three housing authorities in Nevada:  the Southern Nevada Regional Housing 
Authority; the Housing Authority of the City of Reno; and the Nevada Rural 
Housing Authority.  There are several fiscal notes attached to the bill, but they have 
zero impact.  The Nevada Rural Housing Authority would like to make a presentation, 
and we have a friendly amendment (Exhibit C). 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Has the amendment been accepted?  There is an email from Dora D. LaGrande, 
Asset Manager, Global Property Management Group, Inc. (Exhibit D), which lists some 
suggested changes. 
 
Senator Parks: 
I have not seen that email, but I know Ms. LaGrande. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
We will hear the presentation from the Nevada Rural Housing Authority and have 
Ms. LaGrande's amendment printed for you. 
 
Lucas M. Foletta, representing Nevada Rural Housing Authority: 
I will present the amendment (Exhibit C), and then Mr. Brewer is available for 
questions from the Committee.  Our amendment relates to section 1 of S.B. 183 (R1), 
which requires the provisions of NRS Chapter 354—Local Government Budget and 
Finance Act—be applicable to all housing authorities in Nevada.  The Local Government 
Budget and Finance Act is applicable to the Nevada Rural Housing Authority for the 
purpose of ". . . loans of money from a local government . . ." [page 1, (Exhibit C)].  That is 
the current state of the law today.  The amendment does not apply to other sections of the law 
but does contain some conforming language. 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5034/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052C.pdf


Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
May 12, 2017 
Page 4 
 
William Brewer, Deputy Director, Nevada Rural Housing Authority: 
I would like to mention that NRS Chapter 354 applies to local government's budgeting, 
financial reporting, and those types of activities.  It does not contemplate a multijurisdictional 
entity like ours that covers the entire state.  Based on my reading of the statute, it would 
require us to report to 17 different counties for a budget review.  It would be onerous for us 
to operate financially under this type of constraint.  Senator Parks has been great to work 
with, but we need to have the law amended so we may reasonably function concerning our 
finances. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
The bill has changed dramatically since the original reprint.  Section 2.5 sets the number of 
commissioners on the board to 13.  We had a situation with Senator Atkinson's bill, 
Senate Bill 122 of the 77th Session, where there was a lot of consternation around increasing 
the number of board members.  May we have a discussion around that? 
 
Senator Parks: 
Senate Bill 122 of the 77th Session increased the number of commissioners on the board 
from 9 to 13.  Prior to that bill, there was Assembly Bill 478 of the 75th Session.  There has 
been some degree of controversy relative to the number of members on the board.  Increasing 
the members from 9 to 13 created some difficulty among board members. 
 
Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint) does not address the overall number of board members, but the 
larger number has definitely created some issues.  My concern is with the Southern Nevada 
Regional Housing Authority that functions on its own without any oversight.  This bill is 
trying to improve that level of oversight.  The bill does this in two ways:  first, the request for 
a change in the composition of the board members; second, the requirement that local 
housing authorities comply with the Local Government Budget and Finance Act located in 
NRS Chapter 354.  Even the smallest general improvement districts under NRS Chapter 318 
must file a budget with the Department of Taxation and have their financial health reviewed.  
I see no difference with S.B. 183 (R1), especially in light of the size of the Southern Nevada 
Regional Housing Authority. 
 
Assemblyman Daly: 
I want to make sure I understand what is being requested.  The Nevada Rural Housing 
Authority is subject to NRS Chapter 315, which permits them to enter into joint agreements 
across county lines.  They would also be subject to NRS Chapter 354 except for the section 
that ensures there is money and allows for the multijurisdictional loans.  That is the only 
exemption; otherwise, they fall under NRS Chapter 315 and its existing requirements.  Will 
the other two housing authorities be under NRS Chapter 354 completely, or will they remain 
under NRS Chapter 315 and partly under NRS Chapter 354? 
 
Bill Brewer: 
You are exactly right.  The Nevada Rural Housing Authority would operate under 
NRS Chapter 315 and only under NRS Chapter 354 for the intergovernmental loan piece.  
I cannot speak to the other housing authorities. 
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Senator Parks: 
The Nevada Rural Housing Authority is a state agency, and it is not my intent to include 
a state agency under NRS Chapter 354.  I am recommending they be excluded.  There are 
people here who can speak to the composition of the board for the Southern Nevada Regional 
Housing Authority, but it is my intent that the larger housing authorities should be under 
NRS Chapter 354. 
 
Assemblyman Daly: 
The Nevada Rural Housing Authority will be under one provision of NRS Chapter 315 in 
order to perform any multijurisdictional actions.  The larger authorities will fall under 
NRS Chapter 354 and its purchasing provisions. 
 
Senator Parks: 
The Nevada Regional Housing Authority would fall under NRS Chapter 354 strictly for the 
purpose of filing a local government budget. 
 
Assemblyman Kramer: 
I understand there are two southern Nevada housing authorities.  They receive tax dollars to 
achieve their mission.  The Nevada Rural Housing Authority does not receive direct 
tax dollars, only grants from time to time.  They all require oversight but not to the same 
degree.  The Nevada Rural Housing Authority exemption is about budgeting, while the 
Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority must report back concerning how they have 
spent their funds. 
 
Senator Parks: 
That is generally correct.  I believe there is a greater need for oversight of the 
Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority by the local governments that established 
the entity.  It would serve them well to comply with what every other local government entity 
must do, and that is to file a budget with the Department of Taxation.  It is my understanding 
that there is only one Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority in southern Nevada.  
The City of Las Vegas and Clark County consolidated their entities to establish one regional 
housing authority. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
The language in section 2.5 states, ". . . one of whom must be an elected member of the 
governing body of the county."  Does the bill allow for a designee of the elected official?  
Was there an issue with meeting a quorum? 
 
Senator Parks: 
The bill allows for the governing body to appoint two persons to serve on the board.  
One must be an elected member of that governing body.   The provision in section 2.5 does 
not provide for an alternate of the two individuals.  You may have a good point concerning 
the quorum.  Due to the busy schedules of some of the elected members, there might be 
a possibility of not drawing a full quorum at the monthly meeting. 
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Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Section 2.5, subsection 4, paragraph (b) has the additional language of "education and."  It is 
now a combination of education and experience in the listed industry fields.  Please provide 
a little background concerning the need for education.  Are there current members who do 
not have the requisite knowledge to serve on the committee? 
 
Senator Parks: 
The language was added to expand the qualifications.  Marlene Lockard is present, and she 
may be able to provide more detail. 
 
Marlene Lockard, representing Service Employees International Union Local 1107 

Nevada: 
We feel strongly that the board needs to add members with more defined education 
requirements and experience, which is why this section is in the bill.  While some members 
of the board have very good experience in the listed categories, we believe there are 
a number of members who lack the experience.  This is in addition to requesting the 
appointment of elected officials.  There has been a lack of accountability on the board, 
and we believe elected officials will provide that.  They are more experienced at governing, 
understanding how to run a meeting,  and tackling the issues that come before the board.  
We think their broad experience would be of significant help. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in support of S.B. 183 (R1)? 
 
Martha Floyd, Family Self-Sufficiency Coordinator, Southern Nevada Regional 

Housing Authority: 
I am an employee of the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  Today, most 
importantly, I am a taxpayer who lives in the service area of the Southern Nevada Regional 
Housing Authority.  From an employee's perspective, I will detail why we are in support of 
the modifications to our governing board. 
 
The Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority serves over 12,000 families throughout 
the Las Vegas Valley.  Our budget is in excess of $1 billion, and we are managed by 
13 citizens who have no accountability.  I have a stack of newspaper articles from the 
Las Vegas Review-Journal from the last couple of years that explains the inefficiency of our 
board and their lack of ability to manage the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority. 
 
We strongly believe that if we have at least one elected official from the entities that appoint 
to our board, this will help with the governing of the Southern Nevada Regional Housing 
Authority.  In my personal experience, there have been times when our board meetings 
turned into a three-ring circus due to the lack of order and the inability of its members to run 
an effective meeting.  There is infighting among the members because they each have their 
own agendas.  There is always a power struggle.  
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Currently, the employees feel like the board is run by one board member.  That is 
concerning.  We have approached the appointing entities to discuss our concerns, and their 
reply was that it is not up to them because there are other entities involved.  By having 
elected officials sit on the board, the officials will gain personal insight into how their 
appointees are behaving and how decisions are made. 
 
The Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority was formed in 2010 and had a healthy 
operating budget.  Now, every single year, employees and union members are asked to 
concede more and more.  There has been no accountability for where the money has gone.  
We were a healthy agency and had plenty in reserves, but every year those are whittled 
down.  It is the board that is making these fiscal decisions. 
 
There are board members who do not have a high school diploma or a general 
education development equivalency.  They have never been in a position to make decisions, 
and that has had an outreaching effect.  That is why Service Employees International Union 
Local 1107 and the employees are in support of S.B. 183 (R1). 
 
At the start of my presentation, the people standing behind me were here to show their 
support as well.  I am speaking on behalf of the employees, but we do not want to take up 
this Committee's time to repeat what I am saying.  We are asking for this Committee to 
approve S.B. 183 (R1) and provide some accountability for the board that runs an agency 
with a $1 billion budget. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
You are stating that there are instances of a lack of fiscal prudence.  How many instances 
have occurred where you feel the money was wasted or was not properly accounted for? 
 
Martha Floyd: 
In yesterday's newspaper, there was an article on a payout of $170,000 for discrimination 
lawsuits. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Was that considered a legitimate lawsuit?  I need more information than a legal case that has 
been decided by a court.  I am looking for other examples. 
 
Martha Floyd: 
Waste, to me, is money that is unnecessarily spent or spent because it was created out of 
a situation where there was a lack of oversight.  The U. S. Department of Labor has had 
findings against the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  The Office of Inspector 
General within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has reviewed the 
Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority and stated there are issues.  The Departmental 
Enforcement Center within the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development has  
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reviewed the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  Recommendations have been 
stated in public meetings, yet the board takes no effective action to implement them.  They 
continue to approve whatever management presents without further research on their part.  
Within seven years, our reserves have fallen from $21 million to less than $10 million. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Thank you.  I wanted examples on the record. 
 
Laura Morgan, Family Self-Sufficiency Program Coordinator, Southern Nevada 

Regional Housing Authority: 
I am here in solidarity and support of S.B. 183 (R1). 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
I would like to acknowledge my dad, who is sitting in the audience. 
 
How many residents are currently sitting on the board? 
 
Martha Floyd: 
Four residents sit on the board.  We agree that the size of the board might be a bit 
cumbersome for the size of the agency.  We are not questioning having residents on the 
board, only the education and experience of the appointed residents.  The board makes 
decisions for over 250 staff members, and their decisions have a far-reaching effect on over 
12,000 families in the Las Vegas Valley.  The board members are not being held accountable 
for the decisions that are made or not made.  We are asking that the appointing entities at 
least evaluate an appointee's education and experience to ensure they have the knowledge to 
make informed decisions that have an impact on the Las Vegas Valley. 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
You mentioned the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority's reserve fell from 
$21 million to $10 million.  Was an explanation provided at any of the board meetings 
concerning the expenditures of those funds? 
 
Martha Floyd: 
The board explains it, but there is no supporting documentation.  Funds are approved for this 
project or that project.  At one time, there was approval to cover salaries.  It is never 
mentioned that the employees are continually asked to make concessions to keep the agency 
solvent.  At some point in time, the governing board must take responsibility and stop taking 
it out on the backs of the employees. 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
Are there four residents on the nine-member board?  Is there a need to have elected officials 
sit on the board instead of a resident proxy?  
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Martha Floyd: 
I do not think there should be a proxy.  I believe the elected officials need to be absolute 
members, but not the entire board.  Currently, there are 13 members on the board.  
The city of Las Vegas has three appointees plus a resident.  The other entities have 
two appointees and a resident.  Essentially, three of the entities appoint three members, 
and the city of Las Vegas appoints four members.  Each entity appoints one resident 
commissioner for a total of four.  We are not asking to reduce the number of commissioners.  
We are asking to make one of the appointees, aside from the resident, an elected official.  
They would replace one of the private citizen appointees to provide some accountability.  
The entities will see firsthand what actions are or are not being taken on behalf of the 
constituents they serve. 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
Has documentation ever been provided by the board for any dollar loss?  I have 
attended some of the board meetings, and I have seen how quickly tensions escalate.  
Was documentation ever provided with an explanation during a board meeting? 
 
Martha Floyd: 
I would like to be politically correct.  From an employee perspective, the board can explain 
away anything.  Many of us are quite baffled because accounting and math are finite 
sciences.  However, our budget is fluid.  One day we have this shortage, the next day we 
have twice the amount of shortage, and at year's end, there is no shortage at all.  I do not 
understand how the numbers move or how a board member can speak during a meeting about 
where the money went but not provide supporting documentation. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Would the individuals in Las Vegas who are in support please stand?  Thank you for taking 
time off of work to be here today.  Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to 
speak in opposition to S.B. 183 (R1)? 
 
William O. McCurdy, Commissioner, Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority: 
I am in opposition to the provision in the bill concerning the 13-member board.  
Personally, I think the board should revert back to nine members.  I am not in opposition 
to having elected officials serve on the board. 
 
Before I became a commissioner, I was an employee of the City of Las Vegas Housing 
Authority for 14 years.  I worked in Resident Services and Government Affairs.  Before 
I became a member of the board, I saw the chaos at the board meetings.  I agree with some of 
the issues brought up by the employees, but I am firmly against the 13-member board 
because it is too large.  Even our school systems have a mandated number of students.  
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In my opinion, the board has appeared to calm down.  I served as a member of the Habitat for 
Humanity Las Vegas Board of Directors and as a member of the Regional Transportation 
Commission of Southern Nevada Bus Shelter and Bench Advisory Committee.  This board is 
entirely too big to operate.  Some members do not have any knowledge of or understanding  
of budgeting.  Some members have placated to the Executive Director because they have 
received favors.  I am not in opposition concerning the elected officials, but I am in 
opposition to the number of board members. 
 
I believe residents should have an opportunity to be on the board because their 
neighborhoods are their concern, but the Housing Authority is for the entire population.  
Some of the employee issues I heard today I agree with, and others, I disagree with.  
They want raises that the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority cannot afford, 
but they disagree with the philosophy of the budget.  When it comes down to money, 
employees say they want to serve the residents, but when they are asked to give a little 
in-kind or participate in an extra opportunity to represent the residents, they want to be 
paid because they are a union member.  I support the union.  I was a member of 
the Service Employees International Union Local 1107 when I was an employee of the 
City of Las Vegas Housing Authority.  I do not support the union having everything they 
want when the residents are suffering or not being provided the proper services. 
 
I heard statements that the budget has been wasted.  Some money has been wasted, but a lot 
of money has not been wasted.  I think it is not necessary for the Southern Nevada Regional 
Housing Authority to have a contracted legal counsel.  We need a legal counsel who is hired 
by the agency.  That was how it was done at the City of Las Vegas Housing Authority. 
 
I am in opposition, and our budget needs to be streamlined.  We have not had 
an Executive Director for over a year and a half.  After the board removed the 
Executive Director, we have not had as many issues.  Until all parties, the board and 
employees, understand we are here to serve the residents, we will always be at odds and in 
chaos.  We all need to sit back, take a pill, relax, and understand that our first priority is to 
serve the residents of the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in the neutral position?  
Would the bill sponsor please come back to the table.  There is a question on section 3 
concerning the Local Government Budget and Finance Act. 
 
Senator Parks: 
The intent of section 3 is to include the requirement that the Southern Nevada Regional 
Housing Authority be required to comply with the Local Government Budget and 
Finance Act.  
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Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
Section 3, subsection 1, paragraph (a) states, "Shall be deemed to be a public body corporate 
and politic, and an instrumentality, local government and political subdivision of the 
State . . . ."  The language reads like it is already a part of the Local Government Budget and 
Finance Act.  Is it a new part of the law? 
 
Senator Parks: 
It is my understanding that local housing authorities do not file budgets in conformance with 
NRS Chapter 354. 
 
Jim Penrose, Committee Counsel: 
The change made in section 3 is a conforming change.  The question Vice Chairwoman Neal 
is asking concerns the Nevada Rural Housing Authority and existing law.  The  Nevada Rural 
Housing Authority is deemed a local government and not a state agency.  I think there may 
be some misunderstanding there.  Under the law, it appears the Nevada Rural Housing 
Authority is generally exempt with the one exception from the requirements of the 
Local Government Budget and Finance Act.  What I am not clear on is why the other 
regional housing authorities created under NRS Chapter 315 are not subject to the 
Local Government Budget and Finance Act. 
 
Senator Parks: 
I do not know why they would have been exempted.  It was not in the initial request 
when I submitted the bill draft request.  Thank you, Madam Vice Chairwoman and 
Committee, for hearing S.B. 183 (R1).  I am happy to go back and try to work on putting 
together a mock-up of the changes that were requested today from the Nevada Rural Housing 
Authority.  Before the deadline, I will bring back a document that fully explains the bill. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Neal: 
I will close the hearing on Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint).  At this time, I will open the hearing 
on Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint):  Requires a license or permit issued by a local government 

to operate certain businesses in which the use of marijuana is allowed or to allow 
the use of marijuana at certain events. (BDR 20-43) 

 
Senator Tick Segerblom, Senate District No. 3: 
Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) is a very simple bill.  It allows local governments, cities, 
or counties to provide ordinances for public use of marijuana.  Marijuana is legal if you 
are 21 or older, but the only place it can be used is in an individual's home.  This bill 
allows for local governments to create cafes, social clubs, permits for concerts, or other 
businesses for public marijuana use.  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5143/Overview/
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There are 40 million people who visit Las Vegas annually and probably 50 million 
throughout the state.  We will be advertising worldwide that marijuana is legal in Nevada.  
If visitors purchase marijuana here, they will not have a place to use it.  They will have to go 
to their hotel room or walk up and down the Las Vegas Strip which, from my perspective, 
is not desirable. 
 
Rather than stick our head in the sand [page 1, (Exhibit E)], I think it is important that we 
allow local governments to experiment based on what they deem appropriate.  We are not 
mandating what they can do.  Clark County has a Green Ribbon Advisory Panel that reviews 
land use and licensing of retail marijuana establishments.  They are working with the 
Las Vegas Strip motels.  The hotels have recognized that it would be better to have places for 
people to use marijuana rather than have them find a place on their own.  Fifty-five percent 
of the voters approved the Nevada Marijuana Legalization Initiative, Question 2 (Q2) in the 
2016 general election.  To those of you who are worried about Nevada's reputation, Nevada 
has a history of endorsing exotic activities [page 3, (Exhibit E)].  About five miles over the 
hill in Mound House are brothels, so the idea that we might think a marijuana social club 
would be inappropriate for Nevada does not seem realistic. 
 
The bill authorizes local governments to develop ordinances around marijuana.  If they do 
not want to create any ordinances, they do not have to [page 10, (Exhibit E)]. 
 
Assemblyman Kramer: 
I have a liberal streak.  Since the citizens of Nevada voted to legalize recreational marijuana 
use, I am in favor of this bill.  It seems like the language changed since the petition was 
circulated.  I do not remember it including the open smoking in commercial establishments.  
It seems like the petition did not specifically include that language.  Is S.B. 236 (R1) a step 
beyond what was voted on in the actual petition? 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
I do not believe so.  We worked with the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) and were 
very careful with the language.  The Legislative Counsel Bureau has said that once an 
initiative has passed, there is a waiting period before something can be changed.  The fact 
that this was approved by LCB tells me S.B. 236 (R1) does not contradict Q2.  There may be 
some language concerning home use, but it did not specifically say it was not allowed.  From 
my perspective, everyone anticipated this.  The Governor is raising $70 million from the 
10 percent excise tax.  That means $700 million in marijuana sales in the next two years.  
I do not think the Governor thought I was going to use that much marijuana, or that this 
Committee might use that much.  However, somebody will use it, and it will most likely be 
the 40 million tourists.  Using marijuana in a hotel room or on the street is illegal.  This bill 
provides local governments the choice of where marijuana can be used. 
 
Assemblywoman Bilbray-Axelrod: 
I have heard that the Royal Links Golf Course in Las Vegas is allowing people to 
smoke marijuana on the course.  Is that legal?  My concern is about a contact high from 
second-hand marijuana smoke.  What if a person is in a place with their 10-year-old child? 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052E.pdf
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Senator Segerblom: 
I had not heard about the golf course, and to my knowledge, it is illegal.  Children would not 
be in the area where there is second-hand marijuana smoke.  For example, Clark County is 
looking at social clubs that are attached or next door to dispensaries.  An individual must be 
21 years of age.  They would bring their marijuana with them to the social club.  Signage 
would let people know that marijuana is being smoked at the establishment.  If you and your 
child are walking up and down the Las Vegas Strip, then you would both be exposed to the 
second-hand marijuana smoke. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
The biggest complaint about the grow houses is the smell.  The smell issue may be part of the 
ordinance versus having it in NRS, but the concern would be the lingering of the smoke and 
its smell.  Bars use air purifiers.  As smoke wafts out of the establishment, will there be some 
type of filtration or air scrubber?  Or maybe the doors and windows are tightly sealed? 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
An individual could enter an establishment and receive a contact high.  They would not need 
to bring in their own marijuana. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
If they were on a budget, that might save a lot of money.  Walk in, walk around for a bit, 
and walk back out.  My concern is the entry door and smoke wafting out.  Positive 
air pressure means the cleanroom is "pumped up" with more filtered air than the outside.  
In this case, it would be a negative pressure where the air would be pulled from the room and 
scrubbed.  It is a concern because I could walk back and forth in front of the dispensaries on 
Boulder Highway and receive a contact high. 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
In answer to your question about air filtration, that is up to the local government.  The point 
of the bill is to allow local governments to design their own ordinances.  They have code 
enforcement and inspectors in place and can address any complaints.  I do not think it would 
be a problem for them.  There might be a surge in air conditioning technician jobs. 
 
Assemblyman Joiner: 
In general, I am supportive of S.B. 236 (R1).  It makes sense we should have places where 
people can use the marijuana they purchase.  My concern is the definition of "use."  It seems 
the definition of use includes smoking.  Nevada has the Nevada Clean Indoor Air Act 
because second-hand smoke is harmful to an individual's health.  The use of tobacco products 
has been banned in most places.  I am concerned for the employees and want to ensure that 
the bill is not expanding the places where people can currently smoke tobacco.  A new study 
from the University of Nevada, Reno discovered that air filters are not as efficient as was 
once thought.  A lot of employees have no choice but to stay in their job.  I was one of those 
employees, working at a casino.  I want to ensure we are not exposing more people to 
second-hand smoke under this bill.  I do not have an issue with edibles or other types of 
consumption. 
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Senator Segerblom: 
An individual would be exposed to second-hand smoke if they entered one of these 
establishments.  People are there to smoke marijuana.  Dispensaries have pre-rolled joints, 
vape items, and bongs, which are all products used for smoking.  The idea behind the bill is if 
tourists are buying marijuana products, they will need a place to use them.  People visiting 
the establishments and the employees working there would know the risks of being exposed 
to second-hand smoke.  It is similar to casinos that allow smoking.  It is unfortunate, but this 
is Nevada.  Nevada may have the weakest clean indoor act in the country.  That is who 
we are.  As I pointed out in the presentation [page 3, (Exhibit E)], it is what we market.  
Local governments have a choice.  If Reno does not want to create an ordinance, they do not 
have to.  As long as the establishment posts the risk of exposure to marijuana smoke, 
it would be legal.  We are libertarians. 
 
Assemblyman Joiner: 
Will the bill allow people to smoke in areas where tobacco smoking is not allowed? 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
Yes.  The marijuana establishment might be a social club where an individual could sit, have 
a coffee, and smoke marijuana. 
 
Assemblyman Joiner: 
Is there a scenario where a restaurant could host a private party after hours and allow 
marijuana smoking?  Or is it an establishment just for smoking marijuana? 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) authorizes local governments to develop their own permitting 
and ordinances concerning the use of marijuana, and that would permit them to allow 
a restaurant to have a private marijuana smoking party.  The individuals must be 21 years or 
older.  My thought was to provide the local governments with the flexibility to design their 
own processes.  They know their needs and how they will enforce the ordinances.  
If S.B. 236 (R1) is not passed, we may have people walking up and down Virginia Street in 
Reno smoking marijuana.  That may not be desirable. 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
Does the bill allow the establishments to distribute marijuana?  I can see a scenario where as 
a business owner, I want to open up a lounge, and it would be beneficial to have the 
opportunity to sell the product. 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
The bill does not allow for any type of product sales.  Clark County is looking at creating an 
ordinance where the social club is attached to the dispensary.  An individual would purchase 
their product at the dispensary and go next door to the social club to smoke.  The bill does 
not provide additional licenses.  Ultimately, it would be nice to have product available, 
similar to an Amsterdam coffee shop.  You buy your product and enjoy it there.  This bill 
does not allow for that. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052E.pdf
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[Assemblyman Flores assumed the Chair.] 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in support of S.B. 236 (R1)? 
 
Wendy Stolyarov, Legislative Director, Libertarian Party of Nevada: 
With Nevada's legalization of recreational marijuana in November of 2016, the state must 
look ahead to the practical results of legalization, including an increase in use at special 
events and outside the home.  This bill is vital now that recreational marijuana use has been 
legalized.  We believe that S.B. 236 (R1) is an excellent step in creating a formal process for 
marijuana-friendly businesses and special events, providing these groups and their customers 
with clear direction and legal protections.  We see a great deal of potential for trade and 
tourism as well.  The High Times Cannabis Cup in California, for example, draws thousands 
of people every year, and marijuana-friendly areas in restaurants, lounges, and cafes could be 
a lucrative draw to the state.  We regard S.B. 236 (R1) as an important step in the right 
direction for marijuana policy in Nevada and are very happy to support it.  Thank you, 
Senator Segerblom, for bringing it forward. 
 
Wes Henderson, Executive Director, Nevada League of Cities and Municipalities: 
We support this bill because it is enabling, and it leaves the decisions to have these types of 
social clubs up to each individual local government.  We think it is forward looking because 
as Senator Segerblom mentioned, we have a lot of tourists visiting our state and they will 
need a place to use the marijuana products we are selling them. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
If an individual is impaired and leaves a facility, it is not likely that law enforcement can 
administer a sobriety test as is done for alcohol.  They might have to take the individual to 
the hospital for a blood test.  Are the local governments willing to pick up those costs? 
 
Wes Henderson: 
Each individual local government would make that decision.  It would be something they 
would consider when they are forming their ordinance for these types of clubs. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I am hoping a swab test will be available by the time this becomes law. 
 
Michael Harwell, Franchise Manager, Clark County: 
We are in support of this bill for the stated reasons regarding tourists and a place for them to 
consume the marijuana they purchase.  I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for working 
with us on the first reprint. 
   
Darvin Gomez, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am in support of the bill, and I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for bringing this 
forward. 
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Chairman Flores: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in opposition to S.B. 236 (R1)? 
 
Gerard Mager, Private Citizen, Sparks, Nevada: 
I am the parent of a 17-year-old who was killed by a driver under the influence of 
marijuana.  I am adamantly opposed to this bill.  The Nevada Marijuana Legalization 
Initiative, Question 2, specifically stated that public use of marijuana would remain 
a criminal activity.  Passage of this bill would violate the will of the people and the vote of 
the people.  It would be a violation of the public trust.  This bill must not pass because the 
public was induced to vote yes on Q2 with the provision that there would be no public use.  
This bill must not pass. 
 
Michael Hackett, representing Nevada Tobacco Prevention Coalition; and Nevada 

Public Health Association: 
We want to be on record before this Committee in opposition to this bill.  When this bill was 
heard in the Senate, we testified in neutral and had many opportunities to meet with 
Senator Segerblom about our concerns.  On behalf of both organizations, I appreciate his 
willingness to talk about this issue and understand where we were coming from.  We are 
discussing the smoking of marijuana because no one will know if someone has consumed 
an edible. 
 
I think I understand where he is going with this particular bill, but when it was heard in the 
Senate, as some of the proponents were laying this out, it really seemed like any 
establishment—as long as the establishment had the age restriction—could allow marijuana 
to be smoked.  That is where my concern lies.  Even though the bill is permissive, it will end 
up weakening our state's Clean Indoor Air Act.  I would respectively disagree with 
Senator Segerblom about Nevada's clean indoor air laws.  There are still states in the country 
that do not have any type of clean indoor air laws.  Ours is not the best, nor is it the worst.  
It is important to understand that under Nevada's Clean Indoor Air Act there are 
five exemptions where smoking tobacco is allowed.  There are exemptions for the gaming 
areas of casinos, age-restricted stand-alone bars, retail tobacco shops, brothels, 
and tobacco-related trade shows.  This bill will allow marijuana to be smoked in places 
where smoking tobacco is prohibited.  For those reasons, both the organizations I represent 
are in opposition to the bill. 
 
Grace Crosley, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 
People keep talking about tourist dollars, but Colorado has a pot tourism business, and yet 
in 2015, only 4 percent of Colorado tourists came to the state for the pot and actually bought 
some.  Only 7 percent of the marijuana sold in the state was sold to tourists.  I do not think 
this will be the big tourism invasion that some people are predicting, and I have not seen any 
expert justification to back it up, just speculation and hope. 
 
First, I would like to explain to you why marijuana use is harmful, particularly to 
minors.  I will explain why this bill will encourage adolescent marijuana use.  I will discuss 
the fact that public marijuana use is not what Nevadans want.  
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A literature review published earlier this year found substantial evidence that marijuana is 
helpful for treating pain and nausea—according to patients—and for treating spasticity 
associated with multiple sclerosis.  They found moderate evidence that it is effective as 
a short-term sleep aid.  These are the medical benefits we have decent evidence for.  
The review also found substantial evidence that marijuana use is associated with an increased 
risk of car crashes, lower birth weight, psychosis, and schizophrenia.  It found moderate 
evidence that marijuana use is associated with cognitive impairment, mania in people with 
bipolar disorder, depression, suicide, social anxiety, dependence on other drugs, and if it is 
smoked, respiratory problems—chronic bronchitis and chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease.  These are the harms we have decent evidence for.  Regular users tend to experience 
downward socioeconomic mobility, more financial difficulties, workplace problems, 
and relationship conflict in early midlife. 
 
Marijuana use among minors is particularly harmful.  The addiction rate 
for marijuana is around 10 percent, but for those who started using as adolescents, 
it is 16 percent.  A long-term study of over 1,000 subjects, from birth to age 38, found that 
marijuana users who started as teens averaged a 6-point drop in their intelligence quotient, 
regardless of whether they were current users. 
 
I hope it is clear to you that it is important not to encourage adolescent 
marijuana  use.  Unfortunately, a couple of years ago the National Institute on 
Drug Abuse found that only 44.1 percent of twelfth graders believe regular marijuana 
use is harmful, the lowest level since 1973.  We could blame this on legalization.  
But research is increasingly showing that even more than the fact of legalization, the visible 
presence and availability of marijuana in society is what drives adolescent use. 
 
For example, did you know that pot is not technically legal in the Netherlands?  They have 
simply been tolerating "coffee shops" starting in the 1970s.  Interestingly, during the 
first six or seven years of decriminalization, there was not much effect on marijuana use.  
However, during the next 12 years, the number of coffee shops rose sharply, and this was 
correlated with a sharp increase in the lifetime marijuana use rate among young adults from 
15 percent in 1984 to 44 percent in 1996.  As the government started tightening restrictions 
and closing down some coffee shops, this usage rate flattened. 
 
A University of California, Los Angeles study in 2016 found that in the United States, 
the effects of medical marijuana legalization did not happen directly in response to the 
change in state law.  Instead, the effects depended on the size of the legal medical 
marijuana market.  The study found that an additional 1 percent increase in the population of 
registered adult medical marijuana patients predicted a 6 percent increase in the percentage 
of 12- to 17-year-olds who reported using marijuana in the past month.  So how do you think 
adolescent use rates will be affected if we permit marijuana use at clubs and events?  If this 
bill passes, our schools are going to need that extra tax money.  
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Last November, Nevada voters chose to legalize recreational marijuana and not to 
normalize it.  The ballot summary of Q2 presented to voters stated "Criminal offenses would 
include . . . public consumption of marijuana . . . ."  Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) is going to 
permit public marijuana use.  When introducing this bill, its sponsor, Senator Segerblom, 
claimed that its purpose is to prevent tourists from using marijuana on the streets or in 
parks.  However, his true intentions for the bill are completely different. 
 
In a February interview for the Reno Gazette-Journal, Senator Segerblom explained he has 
a bill that says local governments can create venues outside of casinos where marijuana 
could be used.  It could be a social club. It could be a bar.  It could be a street, like a little 
Amsterdam street.  It could be a concert.  It could be a park.  It could be a one-time event like 
the Electric Daisy Carnival.  That all sounds very public to me.  Do you want to vote for 
a bill whose sponsor lies about its purpose? 
 
Marijuana use on streets and in parks is definitely not what Nevadans voted for 
last November.  In fact, only four of Nevada's 13 counties even voted "Yes" on Q2.  In each 
of the four counties where it passed, over 43 percent of the population voted "No."  Nevadans 
are not overwhelmingly in favor of recreational marijuana; they are strongly divided. 
 
Before legalizing marijuana social clubs and special events, lawmakers should at least take 
the time to find out what form of legalization Nevadans actually want.  So far, all we know is 
that even the people who voted yes on Q2 voted against public use.  We are just starting out 
with the legalization of recreational marijuana.  The public is woefully undereducated about 
the potential harms of marijuana use, particularly on minors.  Again, 56 percent of teenagers 
already think regular marijuana use is harmless!  We do not have much idea what the effects 
will be once we start licensing retail stores.  We do know that the more visible marijuana is, 
the more advertising we have, the more public use we observe, and the more marijuana clubs 
and events we have, more people will use it, and that very much includes teenagers.  This 
was never the intent of Q2.  We voted for decriminalization, not for festivals. 
 
Christine Adams, Administrator and Victim Impact Panel Manager, Northern Nevada 

DUI Task Force: 
As an organization, we are opposed to this bill from an impaired driving standpoint.  I would 
like to list a couple of items.  I have been working on alcohol harm reduction strategies and 
restricting access to youth for over a decade.  Our compliance check data does not indicate 
that we are in a good place with restricting the access to minors of these establishments that 
are designated as 21 years of age or older only.  To give you an example, we were out on 
a compliance check for Saint Patrick's Day where only 55 percent of those designated 
establishments refused sale to a minor. 
 
My second concern is the risk of polysubstance use if we are allowing alcohol and marijuana 
to be consumed in the same setting.  We are talking about dual impairment.  What little 
research is available does indicate that when used in conjunction and in the same setting, 
marijuana and alcohol doubles the risk for impaired driving.  We are opposed to any 
new victims on our roadways for obvious reasons, and we ask you to oppose this bill. 
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Chairman Flores: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in the neutral position? 
 
Lennora Valles, representing Nevada Cannabis Nurses Association; and Cannabis 

Nurses Magazine: 
I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for introducing S.B. 236 (R1), that will require 
a license or permit issued by a local government to operate certain businesses in which the 
use of marijuana is allowed or to allow the use of marijuana at certain events.  This bill is 
a great start to creating positive change in the use and consumption in a public place or 
venue.  As a registered nurse, my colleagues, many of our patients, and I are neutral to this 
bill.  Below we have outlined items in support and items against that reflect our neutral 
stance and hope you add amendments to reflect changes that we list. 
 
As Nevadans become more knowledgeable on cannabis therapeutics, they will learn, or have 
learned, of its beneficial benefits, and that this is just a simple plant that should be allowed by 
the commonwealth of the people to grow, to harvest, to consume, and to heal.  Over time and 
through education, legislators will allow specific laws to be created that their constituents 
want to protect the rights of all humanity.  By providing a place in Nevada for safe, 
responsible consumption and awareness of patient safety, the conscious consumer loses the 
fears and stigmas of reefer madness—public smoking of cannabis becomes the new norm. 
 
If this bill passes, Nevada will be the first in the nation to provide consumption lounges.  
Nevada will be known for breaking the 80-plus years of prohibition, ending reefer madness, 
and it will provide normalization to a simple plant.  All cannabis use is medical use, whether 
you are labeled as a patient or a recreational user.  As medical professionals, we view all 
consumption as medical use.  Thank you, Senator Segerblom and Committee members, 
for ensuring our Nevada consumers have a safe place to medicate when they come to 
Las Vegas and for creating the new normal.  Thank you for your consideration on this matter, 
and your good works on behalf of the citizens, tourist, patients, and professionals of Nevada 
in placing safe consumption at the forefront of legislation. 
 
Cindy Brown, representing Patient to Patient Meetup: 
We are neutral on this because Clark County wants to make this exclusively for 
the dispensary owners.  We do not agree with that.  We would like some wording in this bill 
to clarify that you do not have to be a dispensary owner to have a facility.  I would like to 
mention that my husband no longer has chronic obstructive pulmonary disease since he has 
been smoking marijuana and ingesting the oil.  The statistics that Ms. Crosley read are 
wrong, and we have research to prove it. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Senator Segerblom, please come back up.  We have a question for you. 
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Assemblywoman Neal: 
I apologize for not asking my questions earlier.  I have an aversion for this, so I was trying to 
keep my mouth closed.  Section 1, subsection 3, paragraph (a) states ". . . within 300 feet of 
a community facility."  That does not seem to be a lot of distance between the public park, 
playground, public swimming pool, and any facility that is used for recreational purposes.  
How was that distance requirement derived?  Would you be willing to enlarge that distance 
requirement? 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
The distance requirement was in Q2.  If local governments want to have 20,000 feet they can.  
I would like to give them as much discretion as possible.  Carson City is compact, 
and 300 feet is a huge distance.  If they were interested in having an establishment, I am not 
sure there is anywhere in the downtown area because of the 1,000 feet from churches and 
schools provision.  From my perspective, we do not want to dictate to local governments any 
more than is necessary.  The local city councils and the county commissions are closest to the 
public.  They feel the heat, so let them make the decision. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Section 1, subsection 5, paragraph (f) states " 'Unreasonably impracticable'."  The language is 
confusing because the section is unclear.  The language does not create a standard; it states if 
it is "unreasonably impracticable" for someone to develop. 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
That language was requested by the counties.  I believe they wanted it to have an out clause.  
The concern was that an individual might say, "This person was allowed to do it.  You have 
to allow me to do it."  They are trying to protect themselves. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I am in agreement with Assemblyman Carrillo and his mention of the smoke and the smell 
that permeates everywhere.  I hate the smell.  I do not want to be close to it or around anyone 
smoking marijuana. 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
Under current law, your neighbors can smoke in their houses.  They can go out on their porch 
and smoke.  The smoke could waft over to your house, and there is nothing you can do 
about it.  If the city or the county wants to surround the location with someone who sniffs 
every second to determine if smoke is permeating, they are entitled to that.  That is their 
choice.  However, if the bill does not pass, tourists and locals will be walking up and down 
the Las Vegas Strip smoking marijuana, and you will definitely smell it then.  In fact, they 
already are doing that.  The police cannot arrest them.  The violators receive a ticket because 
they are smoking it in public, but it is legal to have marijuana in your possession. 
 
[(Exhibit F) was submitted but not discussed and is included as an exhibit for the meeting.] 
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Chairman Flores: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 236 (R1).  Members, if you still have concerns, please reach 
out to Senator Segerblom.  I will open the hearing on Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint):  Establishes provisions relating to urban agriculture. 

(BDR 22-1078) 
 
Senator Yvanna D. Cancela, Senate District No. 10: 
It seems like it is a very green day in Government Affairs, and I am happy to add to that.  
I am very excited about this bill, and I hope you will all receive it with the same enthusiasm.  
Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint) seeks to encourage land access for urban agricultural production 
facilities by authorizing local governments within the state to establish and regulate urban 
agricultural zones.  Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint) would also encourage public land access by 
requiring local governments to include an agricultural element in their master plan.  That is 
a "may" not a "shall," but it would be encouraged for them to include an inventory of 
public lands that might be used for urban agriculture. 
 
Cities and states across the nation are creating urban agricultural zones using small parcels of 
land and vacant lots in urban areas.  I think each of us can point to empty land in our districts 
where the community would benefit tremendously by having a space to plant herbs, fruit, 
or vegetables that benefit an entire community.  The term urban agriculture describes all 
types of urban farming activities from small community gardens to the larger commercial 
production of crops.  High tech greenhouses located on small plots of land in the middle of 
cities have the capacity to produce nutrient-dense crops and provide easy access to fresh, 
affordable foods.  This is especially important in areas that are food deserts—areas 
underserved by grocery stores—where access to fresh food is really difficult. 
 
Urban agriculture policymaking has been considered by states to promote sustainable 
community development, source local produce, support local producers, and encourage 
related activities.  In order to encourage land access for urban agriculture, many states 
authorize local governments to adopt urban agriculture friendly zoning and permitting 
processes.  Nevada has not done this. 
 
Cities have allowed the use of public land and other vacant lots for the purposes of urban 
agriculture.  For example, in Baltimore, Maryland, residents may view an inventory of vacant 
lots online.  They can see which are available for gardening or greening purposes and apply 
to use the land for urban agricultural purposes.  I am hopeful this bill can be the first step for 
Nevada to become one of the leaders in urban farming.  I will turn it over to former 
Senator Justin Jones in Las Vegas.  He will walk through the portions of the bill (Exhibit G). 
 
Justin Jones, Business Board Member, Urban Seed, Inc.: 
Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint) is the first step for Nevada to enter the world of urban 
agriculture.  It will provide our communities with access to affordable fresh produce.  
It allows local governments the latitude to decide what is best for their localities.  
The benefits of bringing locally grown agricultural products into a community are 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5508/Overview/
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well known.  It can put the previously underutilized land to productive use; promote 
sustainability by eliminating the cost and impact of transporting produce, and these efforts 
can provide much more affordable produce to underserved areas. 
 
Section 1 authorizes a governing body of a city or county within Nevada to establish urban 
agricultural zones by ordinance for the purpose of promoting the development and operation 
of urban agriculture.  Under existing law, a master plan must include certain elements as 
appropriate.  Section 5 provides that a master plan may also include an urban agricultural 
element, but it is not required.  It includes a plan to inventory vacant land parcels and 
blighted lands in the city or county to determine if such lands may be suitable for urban 
farming or gardening. 
 
Sections 6 and 7 authorize a city or county governing body to establish an ordinance for 
community gardening.  The vacant or blighted land is owned by the city or county.  The bill 
will provide our communities with access to affordable fresh produce, and it is the first step 
for Nevada to enter the world of urban agriculture.  We have some people here to present on 
urban agriculture. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Please have the co-presenters testify, and then we will open it up for questions. 
 
Cynthia Thompson, President, Urban Seed, Inc.: 
Urban Seed, Inc. is a Nevada-grown produce company that specializes in urban agriculture.  
We are here to show our support for S.B. 429 (R1).  We think this is a huge move for 
Nevada.  Nevada can be known as the leader in urban agriculture and its associated 
technology, much like Nevada is known around the world for water conservation.  You may 
be aware there is over $1 billion that leaves our local economy annually.  We must go out of 
state for over 99 percent of our produce.  That means not just the people who visit here have 
produce that is imported but our local citizens as well.  I know the citizens of Nevada 
have embraced the thought of urban agriculture.  We appreciate this Committee for 
considering this bill.  It is big for us, and we believe it will create jobs.  It brings 
the community closer.  It keeps money in the local economy, and it gives the diversity to the 
state to bring in more jobs.  We thank you for your consideration and hope it passes. 
 
Rachel Wenman, Vice President, Urban Seed, Inc.: 
I am a native Nevadan, born and raised in Las Vegas.  I have seen first-hand our access to 
fresh food.  I have worked in the hospitality sector—hotels and casinos—and seen our 
culinary community toss out fruits and vegetables the moment they arrive at their door.  
We pay per pound for packaging waste that comes solely because of our food system.  This 
bill provides us the opportunity to create new jobs and a new industry in Nevada. 
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The industry will directly impact the Las Vegas Strip—a street that sees over 40 million 
visitors a year—where food is available for our tourists.  This industry will not only increase 
our local food production, but it will make Nevada more self-reliant in our food supply.  
If Interstate 15 were to shut down, Las Vegas only has a three-to-four day food supply to 
supply the surrounding communities.  For us, this is a very serious issue with phenomenal 
solutions. 
 
With our current system, food travels on average over 1,500 miles to reach the plate.  Food 
that travels that far loses its nutrient density, and its shelf life is shortened to one or two days. 
Shelf life is important for many reasons, but in particular, 70 percent of school district 
lunches are free or reduced.  Because of the shortened shelf life, they cannot get fresh fruits 
and vegetables.  With urban agriculture systems and their technologies, shelf life is naturally 
extended to seven to ten days.  The technologies allow for the food to be grown with 
98 percent less water, which reduces the impact on communities experiencing drought 
conditions.  Urban agriculture stimulates a solution.  I believe this bill will create a positive 
impact on our community through education.  Thank you for hearing this bill, and we would 
like your support. 
 
Assemblywoman Monroe-Moreno: 
Senator Cancela, thank you for bringing this bill forward.  I am really excited about this bill.  
A few weeks ago, I had the opportunity to go home and attend a grand opening 
of a community garden with a partnership between a church, the city of North Las Vegas, 
and the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA).  It is amazing what the church was able to 
do with just a small piece of land.  I like that the fiscal note will not impact us.  Are there any 
projects occurring based on this bill? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
There have been private-public partnerships on private parcels of land that have produced 
wonderful community gardens.  The language of S.B. 429 (R1) is enabling because it does 
not become part of our county or city codes.  I do not know of any planning by cities or 
counties.  The intent of the bill is to make sure that we think about land for these purposes.  
We have many vacant lots that could be used by public-private partnerships or public 
partnerships for urban agriculture to take place. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
Senator Cancela, thank you for bringing this bill forward.  Section 6, subsection 1 discusses 
establishing fees for the use of the vacant or blighted land.  Who do you foresee paying those 
fees?  Who will start the community gardens?  Would it be nonprofits or community groups? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
The local governments would have fee discussions with the interested entities.  In my mind, 
there are a couple of options.  There is an option for the county to gift the land and for the 
interested entities to set the fees.  There are different models with that scenario.  There is an 
option where individuals pay for a space of land to farm within the plot.  There is an option  
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where an entire group pays the bulk of fees and allows for anyone interested in farming to 
participate.  There are all sorts of different models that cities and counties across the country 
have used to institute their fees. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
I have heard of organizations entering into a 100-year lease for $1.  Would interested 
residents be charged to farm the plot? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
The bill lays out a public discussion for that, but it would be determined during the process of 
the usage of the land.  It might be that residents are charged, or the land could be gifted, 
and the community would decide what to charge.  There are all sorts of different models 
available. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
My concern is the cost for lower-income residents, and if they would really benefit from this. 
 
Senator Cancela: 
The intention is to make it as open as possible.  I am hopeful that would be the direction of 
the cities and counties. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I love the idea of community gardens, but there are necessary preparations of the land before 
farming can begin.  Fences may be required to keep rabbits out, which may bring in coyotes.  
Fertilizers and pesticides may be required.  Fertilizer can smell, and that could cause 
a situation in a city zone.  Would those types of preparations be covered in the city or county 
ordinance? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
That is a great question, and those issues would be discussed during the regulatory process.  
The city or county may want to ensure the land is safe for the community and individuals 
who will be using the land.  Fencing and fertilizer must be a part of the overall discussion on 
how the garden will be implemented.  Nevada will benefit by looking at the existing  
successful models across the country.  Many cities, whether they were implementing 
a semi-urban or urban space, have solved those issues.  I am hoping we can learn from 
best practices. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
Farmer's markets are very popular today, and I think community gardens would draw a lot of 
people.  If a disaster did occur, it is only two to three days before the stores would be empty.  
I think this is a great idea, but the cities and counties will really need to study and research 
their ordinances for urban agriculture. 
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Assemblywoman Bilbray-Axelrod: 
Senator Cancela, I share your excitement.  Does the bill only affect Clark County?  
If so, why?  I would like to state for the record that I would hope the cooperative extensions 
would become involved. 
 
Senator Cancela: 
Concerning master planning, it only pertains to counties that have a population over 700,000, 
which is Clark County.  I want the enabling part of the bill to be true throughout the state.  
I will go back and take a closer look and make sure that is true.  I think cooperative 
extensions would be a great partnership.  The beauty of urban agriculture is the entities that 
could become involved with public-private partnerships are endless.  In my opinion, 
the education possibilities at all levels are something all our communities can benefit from. 
 
Assemblyman McCurdy: 
I really like this bill.  I googled federal dollars for urban agriculture and found 
many instances occurring within this bill's framework.  Have you had an opportunity to 
research that? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
I have not had a chance to research how federal grants would fit into urban agriculture.  I am 
hoping that the cities' or counties' genius grant writers will be able to take advantage of 
federal dollars. 
 
Assemblyman Kramer: 
I think it would be advantageous for any municipality to beautify vacant lots or blighted 
areas.  I think it is worth paying to have it done.  Municipalities might consider aiming their 
ordinances at helping to set aside payment for the cost of the water instead of charging fees.  
Water must be available, or no plant growth will occur.  What thoughts have been given to 
how the water bill will be paid? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
If you had asked me this question three months ago, I would have looked at you blank in 
the face and said, I did not even think of water.  Thanks to my experience on the 
Senate Committee on Natural Resources, we did think about that with this bill.  The cities 
and counties would discuss that internally because Washoe County is different from 
Clark County or Lyon County.  Depending on the water basin, the water is a different 
conversation.  The water conservation discussion begins after the plots of land have been 
identified, how the land will be used, and how the land will be paid for. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Section 7 uses the language "blighted city land."  Is there an overlap with any redevelopment 
area?  The redevelopment area may have some subsidization with their project.  For example, 
in North Las Vegas, a community wanted to develop a garden, but there was no water or 
structure on the vacant land.  Building the infrastructure might be a substantial cost for the  
  



Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
May 12, 2017 
Page 26 
 
city or county.  Would the homeowners or landowners absorb some of that cost?  Or could 
funds from the redevelopment's subsidization be used?  Has there been a conversation 
concerning infrastructure and subsidization? 
 
Senator Cancela: 
I think that is a good question.  I have not had any conversations concerning redevelopment 
areas.  I will do my homework and follow up with a couple of the cities and counties to 
make sure I understand that.  Was your first question concerning how fees would affect 
homeowners and landowners in the area? 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I was referring to the landowners as the group uniting to build the garden.  In the case of 
North Las Vegas, there is no water available in the area because there is no infrastructure 
under the ground that exists.  That is a huge cost.  I am wondering how this fee would work 
because, technically, if the city or county takes on the task of building the infrastructure and 
then charges a fee, it might be a pretty substantial fee. 
 
Senator Cancela: 
The landowner would remain the city or county unless the farming group purchased the land.  
If the city or county is the land owner, they will determine the fees for water, and the 
individuals who are farming the land would pay those fees.  There are different models for 
how that could happen.  The city could absorb part of the fees, a private partnership could 
pay part of the fees, or the individuals could pay part of the fees. It would not affect nearby 
homeowners or landowners.  That is not the intent.  The situation you are describing may not 
be ideal for urban agriculture and might be better suited for another type of use. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Does the bill allow for a group to create an urban agricultural zone with gifts or donations to 
pay the fees?  I am referring to the Choice Neighborhoods Planning Grant, which is part 
of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and received by 
North Las Vegas.  Also, Vegas Roots Community Garden has a private owner that leases the 
land to an individual.  Sometimes the vacant land could be a parcel that is privately owned 
but vacant. 
 
Senator Cancela: 
This bill does not change that.  That can happen in the status quo.  However, a private 
landowner wants to interact with their properties.  This bill allows for private-public 
partnerships on public land.  I will look into your question concerning gifts and donations 
and make sure it would be permissible to be used to pay part of the fees.  If it is not 
permissible, I will bring forth an amendment with that language so that situation is captured. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in support of S.B. 429 (R1)? 
 
  



Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
May 12, 2017 
Page 27 
 
Annmarie Feiler, Executive Director, Urban Seed Foundation: 
I am here in support of S.B. 429 (R1).  On many levels, this bill has an important 
impact.  I would like to share a story about my life as a child.  I grew up in Brooklyn, 
New York, in an at-risk community.  It happened that my family had a small garden in our 
backyard.  My grandmother grew squash, and she called it "gagootz."  We probably ate 
"gagootz" three times a week.  I complained about it incessantly as a child, never realizing 
that particular availability would change my life forever. 
 
Across the street, friends my age who did not have that kind of access, experienced hunger, 
and challenges in their social settings and in their upbringing that, fortunately, I never had to 
experience.  Kids my own age, neighbors in New York, literally had a stale piece of bread as 
a meal for the day.  I have seen what the effects of that look like first-hand. 
 
Forty years later, I am here today as the Executive Director of Urban Seed Foundation.  
We are a nonprofit organization in the city of Las Vegas committed to ending food deserts in 
urban environments, specifically in Las Vegas.  Our collaborative efforts in Las Vegas are 
used as a community model for other urban environments across the country in at-risk 
environments. 
 
In my role as Executive Director of Urban Seed Foundation, it has become screamingly 
obvious, as a layman and as a professional in the nonprofit industry committed to solving the 
problems of food and security, that I am not alone.  There is a ton of research on identifying 
the problem.  The Governor's Food Security Council within the Nevada Division of 
Public and Behavioral Health, Department of Health and Human Services, has released 
comprehensive reports since 2013 on food and security, with updates to 2016, identifying the 
challenges we face by not having access, education, and legislation in our food desert 
communities. 
 
The Las Vegas City Council adopted the Food Access Policy and Planning Guide to combat 
obesity.  This guide explains the challenges that we face.  I appreciate the questions from the 
Committee on how the local government land might be used.  There are many community 
organizations supporting this collaborative action that creates a solution for these 
communities.  In front of me is the Las Vegas food desert map, and I am happy to leave it 
here as information for the Committee.  The blue on the map is tens of thousands of acres 
that indicate food deserts.  The hundreds of thousands of people living in these communities 
do not have access to nutritious and whole food that will produce proteins in their body 
required for healthy living. 
 
Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint) is an advancement that begins to address this problem.  
We have highly impassioned organizations throughout the cities, counties, and the state that 
are committed to solving the hunger problem and closing the meal gap.  Those include 
Three Square, Green Our Planet, Create A Change Now, Edible Education, and the list 
goes on.  
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Certainly, the intention of the community, lay people, and professionals is clear.  However, 
unless we can get food into these communities, we are putting a Band-Aid on a huge problem 
that tears into the social fabric of our communities.  Local farmer's markets and other types 
of agricultural initiatives offer a sustainable solution.  That is the distinction S.B. 429 (R1) 
brings into play. 
 
As a mother, a child who grew up in a community without access, and as the Executive 
Director of Urban Seed Foundation, we get to change this.  It is 40 years later for me.  I was 
8 years old when I began to realize that kids in my neighborhood only had a stale piece of 
bread with margarine for a meal.  I knew then I could make a difference, and I would commit 
myself to this social issue.  It is somewhat sad that we are still in this situation, but on 
another level, it is very exciting. 
 
Traditional soil farming, hydroponic farming, and aeroponic farming are all possibilities for 
these communities.  Communities are interested in solving this problem.  I really believe that 
S.B. 429 (R1) can help us.  I would implore you to pass it unanimously. 
 
It is the foundation base that allows us to advance urban agricultural initiatives to our 
communities in need.  Many people have transportation issues and cannot get to the grocery 
stores.  There are many socioeconomic factors that impact what creates a food desert.  Being 
able to grow fruits and vegetables in those communities is a distinction that will begin to 
transform our communities forever in a sustainable way.  It is the missing piece of the puzzle.  
The city of Las Vegas, the state of Nevada, and all the organizations that stand behind 
S.B. 429 (R1) can make a big difference.  Thank you for listening to my squash story and 
thank you for being in support of S.B. 429 (R1). 
 
Jodi Tyson, Government Affairs Director, Three Square; and representing Food Bank 

of Northern Nevada: 
We wholeheartedly support S.B. 429 (R1) and appreciate Senator Cancela bringing this bill 
forward.  Access to food and community engagement in nutrition and agriculture are inherent 
to our mission.  The local food banks have a history of participating in advisory committees 
such as local and regional municipalities for the purpose of developing urban or land use 
plans.  These plans are focused on the physical environment.  We appreciate opportunities to 
participate in this planning process because priorities that are important to all of us include 
access to physical properties, selling or distributing affordable foods, establishing farmer's 
markets, and community gardens. 
 
However, these priorities are not mapped in to the resulting master plans.  Master plans 
designate redevelopment zones, transportation corridors prioritized for improved transit, 
and areas designated for economic development opportunities such as medical manufacturing 
districts.  However, agricultural opportunities do not.  In the end, the numerous priorities 
listed in a master plan could also designate locations for urban agriculture.  
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While the language in this bill is permissible, the food banks would work collaboratively 
with our community and business partners to encourage local governments to use this 
designation as an effective planning tool.  We would encourage local governing bodies to 
donate or gift the land in redevelopment areas for community gardens or allow nonprofit 
organizations to apply for HUD's Community Development Block Grant program to pay for 
the fees.  I would also like to address Assemblyman McCurdy's question about federal 
funding.  The food banks are often on Grants.gov looking for grant opportunities that we can 
bring to Nevada.  We have not been able to focus our efforts on urban gardening such as 
farm to fork or farm to school opportunities because the public-private relationship does 
not exist. 
 
It is not officially announced, but the Vegas Roots Community Garden and Three Square 
have received their first USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture Food Insecurity 
Nutrition Incentive grant.  This grant provides the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 
Program (SNAP) recipients with an extra free dollar for every SNAP dollar they spend on 
fresh fruits and vegetables at participating corner stores, food deserts, and farmer's markets.  
We have these new opportunities, but much more will become available to our communities 
with the legislation before you.  Agricultural zones will spur more collaborative efforts.  
We support S.B. 429 (R1).  Thank you for your time and support. 
 
Nicholas Sasto, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I work in the Las Vegas restaurant industry.  This subject is very passionate to my brother, 
who is a chef, and me.  We have walked the farmer's markets together.  I understand what it 
is like to taste a different city.  I believe Las Vegas needs that for locals and its guests.  When 
chefs are able to visit these markets on a daily basis and pick fresh vegetables and fruits, 
it heightens the food experience for everyone.  Servers get to share stories on how the food 
was grown, and guests learn about the vegetables they are eating.  While working in the 
industry, I have seen the piles of cardboard boxes that rise to the ceiling and fill the trash 
dumpsters.  The fact that this could be limited even slightly is astronomical.  For Las Vegas, 
this has a huge impact.  This is a $4 billion industry.  I think we are being dealt a winning 
hand and a wonderful opportunity. 
 
Susan L. Fisher, representing Nevada Rural Housing Authority: 
I grew up on a farm in California.  I have never lived anywhere I did not have a very large 
vegetable garden of my own.  As I speak, my garden is growing wildly.  I am not able to be 
there to play in it because I am here with all of you today.  While this is the 
Assembly Committee on Government Affairs and not the health care or money committee, 
there are some very compelling reasons why we must support S.B. 429 (R1).  The obesity 
rate in Nevada is currently over 26 percent.  Childhood obesity is over 12 percent.  
Over 12 percent of our adults have diabetes, and 38.5 percent have prediabetes.  Each year, 
10,000 people are diagnosed with diabetes.  The direct cost of medical expenses related to 
diabetes in Nevada is estimated at nearly $2.5 billion.  If you ask kids where their 
groceries come from, they will tell you the grocery store.  If you ask them where their food 
comes from, they will tell you McDonald's or 7-Eleven.  It does not come from there; 
it comes from farms.  Involving children in farming or gardening means they are more likely 
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to make better food choices for themselves and will teach their parents.  I love the idea of 
community gardens; they bring fresh produce closer to families, so they will eat them.  I urge 
your support of S.B. 429 (R1). 
 
Tyson K. Falk, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 
I have had the opportunity to work in this really exciting and nascent industry.  I want to 
speak a little bit more on the technical side.  Some of you may never have thought you would 
hear the word "high-tech farmer," but we are here.  There are a lot of different places around 
the world where it is economically feasible and competitive for entities to grow food on 
a commercial scale indoors.  These are conventional greenhouses with translucent glass and 
light-emitting diode lights, which are high-efficiency lights developed in the last decade. 
 
There are abandoned microchip processing factories in Japan that have been converted to 
grow food inside.  Available land and air pollution are factors in Japan.  A lot of 
macroeconomists would say that approximately 80 percent of all arable land in the world is 
being used.  As the world population continues to grow, we need to find more efficient ways 
to grow food. 
 
Nevada, in particular, is advantageous in this area.  We have a lack of humidity, which is 
efficient for growing agriculture indoors because dehumidifying the air requires a lot of 
energy.  On average, Nevada has 294 sunny days a year.  Solar photovoltaic cells can be used 
to create and store energy off the grid for growing plants indoors.  Conventional agriculture 
uses a lot of fossil fuels through tractors that move up and down the fields every day and the 
semi-trucks that haul the produce upwards of 300 to 1,500 miles. 
 
Nevada has 17 counties, and 15 of them are net food exporters of agricultural products, but it 
is largely livestock.  Clark and Washoe Counties are net food importers, meaning more 
agricultural products are used than produced in the area.  The state as a whole is a net food 
importer.  Knowing that, it is obvious why we have food deserts around the Las Vegas Strip 
and in the Reno-Sparks metropolitan area.  I would like to introduce my friend from 
high school.  Brian and I won second place in the Elko annual science fair growing beans 
in little cups way back in ninth grade.  He can tell you some of what he is doing here in 
Carson City. 
 
Brian Harasha, Owner, Jazi’s Greenz, Carson City, Nevada: 
I am an urban farmer utilizing aeroponics to grow food locally.  This bill is important to me 
because I have been struggling to find a place to farm because it is not written into the 
ordinances.  I will not repeat why having local food is so awesome for health, but ultimately, 
this is a new industry.  It is a moneymaker and an education builder.  In 2014, the local food 
market had a value of nearly $12 billion, which is up from $5 billion in 2008.  Obviously, 
this industry is growing; there is more of a demand for local food.  It is also a food security 
industry.  
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As Mr. Falk mentioned, the population is growing, and we must figure out how to feed 
everyone on the planet.  We have the technology to do it.  Last week, I attended an indoor 
agriculture conference in Las Vegas, and I got to see a plethora of technology that is 
available from robotics, artificial intelligence, high-tech ways of growing food through 
hydroponics, aeroponics, and even fogponics. 
 
Economically, it will create jobs in farming and help restaurants.  New businesses to support 
the urban agriculture infrastructure will open, like equipment supply stores.  More tax dollars 
will enter the system not related to food, with more farm-to-table restaurants and more 
farm-to-school programs.  Children will see this agriculture happening around them.  
In 20 years, they are the people we will be pressed to feed because of the population crisis.  
If they are exposed to this new way of growing food, they will become the leaders in the 
industry.  From an economic standpoint, this industry will make money and bring in 
tax dollars.  We will not need to import our food from California.  We are on the cusp of an 
agriculture explosion, and I think that is important to realize.  This bill is a small step to 
allow this to happen in Nevada. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in opposition to S.B. 429 (R1)?  
[There was no one.]  Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in the 
neutral position?  I will close the hearing on S.B. 429 (R1).  I will open the work session for 
Senate Bill 176 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 176 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to public safety. (BDR 23-666) 
 
Jered McDonald, Committee Policy Analyst: 
Senate Bill 176 (1st Reprint) revises provisions relating to public safety.  The bill was 
sponsored by Senator Ford and heard in this Committee on May 11, 2017.  The bill expands 
to all law enforcement agencies the requirement that certain peace officers wear a portable 
event recording device while on duty and requires that video recordings be retained by the 
law enforcement agency for not less than 15 days.  The bill also expands to all counties 
the authority of the respective boards of county commissioners to impose a surcharge to be 
used for the enhancement of the telephone system for reporting an emergency in the counties 
and authorizes the surcharge to be used to purchase and maintain portable event recording 
devices and vehicular event recording devices.  The maximum amount of the surcharge that 
may be imposed is increased from 25 cents to $1 each month for each access line to the local 
exchange of a telecommunications provider, effectively increasing the surcharge for each 
trunk line to the local exchange and each mobile telephone number.  There are no 
amendments on this bill (Exhibit H).  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5027/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052H.pdf
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Chairman Flores: 
I would like to entertain a motion to do pass S.B. 176 (R1). 
 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MONROE-MORENO MOVED TO DO PASS 
SENATE BILL 176 (1ST REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN NEAL SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 
Is there any discussion? 
 
Assemblyman Kramer: 
I like the idea of police cameras, but I think this is a good example of an unfunded mandate.  
The state is mandating that counties do this and telling them to raise taxes to fund the 
program. 
 
Assemblyman Marchant: 
Ditto. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I will be voting no, but I would like to reserve my right to change my vote on the floor.  I am 
still trying to find out some information for my county. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Is there any further discussion?  [There was none.] 
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYMEN ELLISON, KRAMER, 
MARCHANT, AND MCARTHUR VOTED NO.) 

 
Assemblywoman Bilbray-Axelrod will take the floor statement.  The next bill on 
work session is Senate Bill 188. 
 
Senate Bill 188:  Revises provisions prohibiting certain discriminatory acts. 

(BDR 18 106) 
 
Jered McDonald, Committee Policy Analyst: 
Senate Bill 188 revises provisions prohibiting certain discriminatory acts.  It was sponsored 
by Senator Parks and heard in this Committee on May 11, 2017.  The bill defines the terms 
“gender identity or expression” and “sexual orientation” and makes these definitions 
applicable to Nevada Revised Statutes as a whole.  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5039/Overview/
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Further, the bill revises provisions of existing law that prohibit various types of 
discrimination and discriminatory practices to include gender identity or expression and 
sexual orientation.  Among other provisions, the bill revises the circumstances under which 
murder of the first degree may be aggravated by adding the circumstance if the murder was 
committed upon the person because of his or her actual or perceived gender identity or 
expression.  The bill prohibits a polygraph examiner or intern from inquiring about the sexual 
orientation or gender identity or expression of the person examined unless such information 
is germane to the issue under investigation, and the inquiries are made at the request of the 
examinee.  Finally, the bill prohibits an insurer that uses a consumer credit report from 
calculating an insurance score based on a person’s sexual orientation or gender identity or 
expression (Exhibit I). 
 
Chairman Flores: 
Is there any discussion? 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I met with the sponsor of the bill and asked about the possibility of making some changes.  
We are going to meet with the Legislative Counsel Bureau so there is not a floor amendment. 
 
Chairman Flores: 
The sponsor is not here today.  I would feel more comfortable making the motion as the bill 
stands today.  I will entertain a motion. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN BROOKS MOVED TO DO PASS SENATE BILL 188. 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN BILBRAY-AXELROD SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

I will reach out to the sponsor to see if he will be comfortable with the changes from 
Assemblyman Ellison, and we will do a floor amendment. 

 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I spoke with the sponsor this morning, and he agreed to my requested changes.  If we go 
forward, I will vote it out and reserve my right to change my vote on the floor.  If I cannot 
get the clarifications made, I will be opposed to the bill.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1052I.pdf
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Chairman Flores: 
Is there any further discussion?  [There was none.] 
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYMEN MARCHANT AND 
MCARTHUR VOTED NO.)  

 
Assemblyman Carrillo will take the floor statement.  Is there anyone in Carson City or 
Las Vegas for public comment?  [There was no one.]  This meeting is adjourned 
[at 10:45 a.m.]. 
 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
 
 
 

  
Carol Myers 
Committee Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Assemblyman Edgar Flores, Chairman 
 
DATE:     
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EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a proposed amendment to Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint) submitted by 
the Nevada Rural Housing Authority and presented by Lucas M. Foletta, representing 
Nevada Rural Housing Authority. 
 
Exhibit D is a letter in opposition to Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint) to members of the 
Assembly Committee on Government Affairs, authored and submitted by Dora D. LaGrande, 
Asset Manager, Global Property Management Group, Inc. 
 
Exhibit E is a copy of a PowerPoint presentation titled, "SB 236:  Authorizes local 
governments to issue permits to businesses that allow the public use of marijuana," presented 
by Senator Tick Segerblom, Senate District No. 3. 
 
Exhibit F is a letter dated May 10, 2017, in opposition to Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) 
to Chairman Flores and members of the Assembly Committee on Government Affairs, 
authored and submitted by John Packham, President, Nevada Tobacco Prevention Coalition. 
 
Exhibit G is written testimony presented by Senator Yvanna D. Cancela, 
Senate District No. 10, regarding Senate Bill 429 (1st Reprint). 
 
Exhibit H is the Work Session Document for Senate Bill 176 (1st Reprint), presented by 
Jered McDonald, Committee Policy Analyst, Research Division, Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
 
Exhibit I is the Work Session Document for Senate Bill 188, presented by Jered McDonald, 
Committee Policy Analyst, Research Division, Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
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	The Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority serves over 12,000 families throughout the Las Vegas Valley.  Our budget is in excess of $1 billion, and we are managed by 13 citizens who have no accountability.  I have a stack of newspaper articles fro...
	We strongly believe that if we have at least one elected official from the entities that appoint to our board, this will help with the governing of the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  In my personal experience, there have been times when ...
	Currently, the employees feel like the board is run by one board member.  That is concerning.  We have approached the appointing entities to discuss our concerns, and their reply was that it is not up to them because there are other entities involved....
	The Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority was formed in 2010 and had a healthy operating budget.  Now, every single year, employees and union members are asked to concede more and more.  There has been no accountability for where the money has go...
	There are board members who do not have a high school diploma or a general education development equivalency.  They have never been in a position to make decisions, and that has had an outreaching effect.  That is why Service Employees International U...
	At the start of my presentation, the people standing behind me were here to show their support as well.  I am speaking on behalf of the employees, but we do not want to take up this Committee's time to repeat what I am saying.  We are asking for this ...
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	You are stating that there are instances of a lack of fiscal prudence.  How many instances have occurred where you feel the money was wasted or was not properly accounted for?
	Martha Floyd:
	In yesterday's newspaper, there was an article on a payout of $170,000 for discrimination lawsuits.
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	Was that considered a legitimate lawsuit?  I need more information than a legal case that has been decided by a court.  I am looking for other examples.
	Martha Floyd:
	Waste, to me, is money that is unnecessarily spent or spent because it was created out of a situation where there was a lack of oversight.  The U. S. Department of Labor has had findings against the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  The Off...
	reviewed the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority.  Recommendations have been stated in public meetings, yet the board takes no effective action to implement them.  They continue to approve whatever management presents without further research o...
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	Thank you.  I wanted examples on the record.
	Laura Morgan, Family Self-Sufficiency Program Coordinator, Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority:
	I am here in solidarity and support of S.B. 183 (R1).
	Assemblyman McCurdy:
	I would like to acknowledge my dad, who is sitting in the audience.
	How many residents are currently sitting on the board?
	Martha Floyd:
	Four residents sit on the board.  We agree that the size of the board might be a bit cumbersome for the size of the agency.  We are not questioning having residents on the board, only the education and experience of the appointed residents.  The board...
	Assemblyman McCurdy:
	You mentioned the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority's reserve fell from $21 million to $10 million.  Was an explanation provided at any of the board meetings concerning the expenditures of those funds?
	Martha Floyd:
	The board explains it, but there is no supporting documentation.  Funds are approved for this project or that project.  At one time, there was approval to cover salaries.  It is never mentioned that the employees are continually asked to make concessi...
	Assemblyman McCurdy:
	Are there four residents on the nine-member board?  Is there a need to have elected officials sit on the board instead of a resident proxy?
	Martha Floyd:
	I do not think there should be a proxy.  I believe the elected officials need to be absolute members, but not the entire board.  Currently, there are 13 members on the board.  The city of Las Vegas has three appointees plus a resident.  The other enti...
	Assemblyman McCurdy:
	Has documentation ever been provided by the board for any dollar loss?  I have attended some of the board meetings, and I have seen how quickly tensions escalate.  Was documentation ever provided with an explanation during a board meeting?
	Martha Floyd:
	I would like to be politically correct.  From an employee perspective, the board can explain away anything.  Many of us are quite baffled because accounting and math are finite sciences.  However, our budget is fluid.  One day we have this shortage, t...
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	William O. McCurdy, Commissioner, Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority:
	I am in opposition to the provision in the bill concerning the 13-member board.  Personally, I think the board should revert back to nine members.  I am not in opposition to having elected officials serve on the board.
	Before I became a commissioner, I was an employee of the City of Las Vegas Housing Authority for 14 years.  I worked in Resident Services and Government Affairs.  Before I became a member of the board, I saw the chaos at the board meetings.  I agree w...
	In my opinion, the board has appeared to calm down.  I served as a member of the Habitat for Humanity Las Vegas Board of Directors and as a member of the Regional Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada Bus Shelter and Bench Advisory Committee.  ...
	I believe residents should have an opportunity to be on the board because their neighborhoods are their concern, but the Housing Authority is for the entire population.  Some of the employee issues I heard today I agree with, and others, I disagree wi...
	I heard statements that the budget has been wasted.  Some money has been wasted, but a lot of money has not been wasted.  I think it is not necessary for the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority to have a contracted legal counsel.  We need a leg...
	I am in opposition, and our budget needs to be streamlined.  We have not had an Executive Director for over a year and a half.  After the board removed the Executive Director, we have not had as many issues.  Until all parties, the board and employees...
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in the neutral position?  Would the bill sponsor please come back to the table.  There is a question on section 3 concerning the Local Government Budget and Finance Act.
	Senator Parks:
	The intent of section 3 is to include the requirement that the Southern Nevada Regional Housing Authority be required to comply with the Local Government Budget and Finance Act.
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	Section 3, subsection 1, paragraph (a) states, "Shall be deemed to be a public body corporate and politic, and an instrumentality, local government and political subdivision of the State . . . ."  The language reads like it is already a part of the Lo...
	Senator Parks:
	It is my understanding that local housing authorities do not file budgets in conformance with NRS Chapter 354.
	The change made in section 3 is a conforming change.  The question Vice Chairwoman Neal is asking concerns the Nevada Rural Housing Authority and existing law.  The  Nevada Rural Housing Authority is deemed a local government and not a state agency.  ...
	Senator Parks:
	I do not know why they would have been exempted.  It was not in the initial request when I submitted the bill draft request.  Thank you, Madam Vice Chairwoman and Committee, for hearing S.B. 183 (R1).  I am happy to go back and try to work on putting ...
	Vice Chairwoman Neal:
	I will close the hearing on Senate Bill 183 (1st Reprint).  At this time, I will open the hearing on Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint).
	Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) is a very simple bill.  It allows local governments, cities, or counties to provide ordinances for public use of marijuana.  Marijuana is legal if you are 21 or older, but the only place it can be used is in an individual...
	There are 40 million people who visit Las Vegas annually and probably 50 million throughout the state.  We will be advertising worldwide that marijuana is legal in Nevada.  If visitors purchase marijuana here, they will not have a place to use it.  Th...
	Rather than stick our head in the sand [page 1, (Exhibit E)], I think it is important that we allow local governments to experiment based on what they deem appropriate.  We are not mandating what they can do.  Clark County has a Green Ribbon Advisory ...
	The bill authorizes local governments to develop ordinances around marijuana.  If they do not want to create any ordinances, they do not have to [page 10, (Exhibit E)].
	Assemblyman Kramer:
	I have a liberal streak.  Since the citizens of Nevada voted to legalize recreational marijuana use, I am in favor of this bill.  It seems like the language changed since the petition was circulated.  I do not remember it including the open smoking in...
	Senator Segerblom:
	I do not believe so.  We worked with the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) and were very careful with the language.  The Legislative Counsel Bureau has said that once an initiative has passed, there is a waiting period before something can be changed. ...
	Assemblywoman Bilbray-Axelrod:
	I have heard that the Royal Links Golf Course in Las Vegas is allowing people to smoke marijuana on the course.  Is that legal?  My concern is about a contact high from second-hand marijuana smoke.  What if a person is in a place with their 10-year-ol...
	Senator Segerblom:
	I had not heard about the golf course, and to my knowledge, it is illegal.  Children would not be in the area where there is second-hand marijuana smoke.  For example, Clark County is looking at social clubs that are attached or next door to dispensar...
	Assemblyman Carrillo:
	The biggest complaint about the grow houses is the smell.  The smell issue may be part of the ordinance versus having it in NRS, but the concern would be the lingering of the smoke and its smell.  Bars use air purifiers.  As smoke wafts out of the est...
	Senator Segerblom:
	An individual could enter an establishment and receive a contact high.  They would not need to bring in their own marijuana.
	Assemblyman Carrillo:
	If they were on a budget, that might save a lot of money.  Walk in, walk around for a bit, and walk back out.  My concern is the entry door and smoke wafting out.  Positive air pressure means the cleanroom is "pumped up" with more filtered air than th...
	Senator Segerblom:
	In answer to your question about air filtration, that is up to the local government.  The point of the bill is to allow local governments to design their own ordinances.  They have code enforcement and inspectors in place and can address any complaint...
	Assemblyman Joiner:
	In general, I am supportive of S.B. 236 (R1).  It makes sense we should have places where people can use the marijuana they purchase.  My concern is the definition of "use."  It seems the definition of use includes smoking.  Nevada has the Nevada Clea...
	Senator Segerblom:
	An individual would be exposed to second-hand smoke if they entered one of these establishments.  People are there to smoke marijuana.  Dispensaries have pre-rolled joints, vape items, and bongs, which are all products used for smoking.  The idea behi...
	Assemblyman Joiner:
	Will the bill allow people to smoke in areas where tobacco smoking is not allowed?
	Senator Segerblom:
	Yes.  The marijuana establishment might be a social club where an individual could sit, have a coffee, and smoke marijuana.
	Assemblyman Joiner:
	Is there a scenario where a restaurant could host a private party after hours and allow marijuana smoking?  Or is it an establishment just for smoking marijuana?
	Senator Segerblom:
	Senate Bill 236 (1st Reprint) authorizes local governments to develop their own permitting and ordinances concerning the use of marijuana, and that would permit them to allow a restaurant to have a private marijuana smoking party.  The individuals mus...
	Assemblyman McCurdy:
	Does the bill allow the establishments to distribute marijuana?  I can see a scenario where as a business owner, I want to open up a lounge, and it would be beneficial to have the opportunity to sell the product.
	Senator Segerblom:
	The bill does not allow for any type of product sales.  Clark County is looking at creating an ordinance where the social club is attached to the dispensary.  An individual would purchase their product at the dispensary and go next door to the social ...
	[Assemblyman Flores assumed the Chair.]
	Chairman Flores:
	Wendy Stolyarov, Legislative Director, Libertarian Party of Nevada:
	Wes Henderson, Executive Director, Nevada League of Cities and Municipalities:
	We support this bill because it is enabling, and it leaves the decisions to have these types of social clubs up to each individual local government.  We think it is forward looking because as Senator Segerblom mentioned, we have a lot of tourists visi...
	Assemblyman Ellison:
	If an individual is impaired and leaves a facility, it is not likely that law enforcement can administer a sobriety test as is done for alcohol.  They might have to take the individual to the hospital for a blood test.  Are the local governments willi...
	Wes Henderson:
	Each individual local government would make that decision.  It would be something they would consider when they are forming their ordinance for these types of clubs.
	Assemblyman Ellison:
	I am hoping a swab test will be available by the time this becomes law.
	Michael Harwell, Franchise Manager, Clark County:
	We are in support of this bill for the stated reasons regarding tourists and a place for them to consume the marijuana they purchase.  I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for working with us on the first reprint.
	Darvin Gomez, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:
	I am in support of the bill, and I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for bringing this forward.
	Chairman Flores:
	Is there anyone in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to speak in opposition to S.B. 236 (R1)?
	Grace Crosley, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada:
	Christine Adams, Administrator and Victim Impact Panel Manager, Northern Nevada DUI Task Force:
	As an organization, we are opposed to this bill from an impaired driving standpoint.  I would like to list a couple of items.  I have been working on alcohol harm reduction strategies and restricting access to youth for over a decade.  Our compliance ...
	My second concern is the risk of polysubstance use if we are allowing alcohol and marijuana to be consumed in the same setting.  We are talking about dual impairment.  What little research is available does indicate that when used in conjunction and i...
	Chairman Flores:
	Lennora Valles, representing Nevada Cannabis Nurses Association; and Cannabis Nurses Magazine:
	I would like to thank Senator Segerblom for introducing S.B. 236 (R1), that will require a license or permit issued by a local government to operate certain businesses in which the use of marijuana is allowed or to allow the use of marijuana at certai...
	As Nevadans become more knowledgeable on cannabis therapeutics, they will learn, or have learned, of its beneficial benefits, and that this is just a simple plant that should be allowed by the commonwealth of the people to grow, to harvest, to consume...
	If this bill passes, Nevada will be the first in the nation to provide consumption lounges.  Nevada will be known for breaking the 80-plus years of prohibition, ending reefer madness, and it will provide normalization to a simple plant.  All cannabis ...

